FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/27/2022 4:27 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No.100888-1 (Court of Appeals No. 55489-5-II)

SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

COLLEEN M. ALDRIDGE

Petitioner,

٧.

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES - STATE OF WASHINGTON

Respondent.

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

COLLEEN M. ALDRIDGE Pro se

COLLEEN M. ALDRIDGE P.O. Box 237 DuPont, WA. 98327-0237 Telephone: (406) 578-1877 Facsimile: (253) 533-7338

Jurisdictional	
	Public Reco	
	Remittance	
	Revised Code of Was	
WAC	Washington Administrativ	e Code

WSBA...... Washington State Bar Association

I. INTRODUCTION

In 1911, the IIA supplanted the economically unwise and unfair common law system that governed the remedies available to industrially injured workers. RCW 51.04.010. It became the exclusive administrative remedy between employer and employee. The Department administers the IIA. The IIA provides for a BIIA, which serves as the administrative review body for Department decisions and orders. RCW 51.52.050. Injured workers in Washington depend upon the BIIA to render impartial decisions to challenged Department decisions and orders. As the agency with the sole authority to review Department decisions and orders, the BIIA vaunts its "independence" from the Department, its mission to "serve the public by resolving appeals in a" . . . [i]mpartial manner, and its commitment to providing "a respected,

unbiased forum for the resolution of disputes." In December 2009 Ms. Aldridge submitted an IIC but continued to try and work. Because she continued to try and work for four months, the Department took no constructive action. When Ms. Aldridge was restricted from any kind of work, the Department denied her claim. Ms. Aldridge appealed. Pursuant to the law, Mr. Aldridge, Ms. Aldridge's husband of [at that time] twenty years, represented her as a lay representative. On May 10, 2012, in an agreed order, the Department was "100%" responsible for Ms. Aldridge's occupational disease. However, on June 10, 2010, Ms. Aldridge underwent surgery due to the incapacitating nature of her injury. The surgery and associated services [hospital] were billed to the Department. The Department denied payment but refused to serve notice of its denial on Ms. Aldridge. Ms.

¹ http://www.biia.wa.gov/AboutBIIA.html.

Aldridge only learned of the denials when her treating provider informed her. Between June 10, 2010, and October 18, 2016, the Department purposely refused to serve the denials on Ms. Aldridge. Between June 2010 and October 2016, Ms. Aldridge filed approximately fourteen appeals seeking to compel the Department to serve her with notice of its decision. Caucasian IAJs heard all but one appeal. On October 6, 2016, in a summary judgment decision, an African-American IAJ entered a ruling which compelled the Department to serve its denial notice on Ms. Aldridge.

Additionally, in March 2013, the BIIA began requiring the presence of armed police, with authority to exact force up to and including deadly force, when Mr. Aldridge appeared. Although the Aldridges sought to compel the BIIA to hold hearings on the reason for implementing the security measure, the motions were denied. Mr. Aldridge had done nothing to warrant the security measure. For

this reason, the BIIA denied any motion to hold hearings on the matter. A review of the history of the BIIA requesting armed police security revealed the agency only requested the presence of armed police with Caucasian appellants after they made threats to harm Department and/or BIIA staff or to blow up a BIIA facility. Yet with Mr. Aldridge, simply being Black and married to a Caucasian woman was enough to warrant the requirement for the presence of armed police when he appeared in person.

Despite written evidence that for six years, the

Department intentionally denied service of its denial of
payment the COA ruled the Department's denial is in
compliance with the law, that the denial of service did not
unnecessarily delay Ms. Aldridge's quest for justice under
the law, that the BIIA requirement for the presence of
armed police, without holding hearings on the matter,
when Mr. Aldridge appeared in person, is in compliance

with the law, that the BIIA's requirement for the presence of armed police when Mr. Aldridge appeared in person is justified because Mr. Aldridge conducted a public records check on the IAJ and an employee of the AG, that the BIIA's exclusion from its certified records to the superior court, an order denying Ms. Aldridge's motion for assignment of a pro-tem judge is in compliance with the law, and that the BIIA's exclusion of its dockets consisting of the appeals Ms. Aldridge filed under her IIC from 2009 through 2016, is consistent with the law even though the BIIA lists all Departments decisions and order and BIIA dockets and decision in the JH provided to the IAJ hearing the appeal and the JH is included in the certified record in appeals beyond the BIIA's consideration.

The COA's decisions will create turmoil in the prevailing laws. Each year, hundreds of requests for administrative review are advanced to the review courts from BIIA decisions in IIC. Given the number of workers.

state and self-insureds affected, the rulings in this case, although unpublished,² will have a significant effect.

It undermined the intent of the Legislator when it replaced the economically unwise and unfair common law system that had governed the remedies available to industrially injured workers, RCW 51.04.010, making IIC under the IIA liberally construed to reduce to a minimum the suffering and economic loss arising from injuries and death occurring in the course of employment." RCW 51.12.010.

Three reasons warrant review. First, the ruling that a request under the PRA justifies the requirement for the presence of armed police without analyzing, on the record, the case-specific reasons for the requirement disrupts the Legislature's ability to set standards, violates

² Unpublished decision has no precedential value, is not binding on any court, and is cited in this brief only for such persuasive value as the court deems appropriate. GR 14.1.

the right of the people exercising their rights under the provisions of the PRA, in the future will affect other who exercise their rights under the PRA, and is a question of first impression.

Second, the decision allowing the Department to withhold service of its decisions/orders causes unnecessary delays in violation of the WA Constitution and conflicts with a decision between COA divisions.

Third, the decision allowing clandestine written and verbal communications between judges and legal staff about a representative of a litigant conflicts with a previous decision of the same division of the COA and violates the Washington State and US Constitutions.

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER/DECISION

Petitioner, Colleen McColley Aldridge (Ms. Aldridge).

Colleen M. Aldridge v. Washington State Department of

Labor and Industries No. 55489-5-II (March 29, 2022)

Colleen M. Aldridge v. Washington State Department of

Labor and Industries No. 55489-5-II, Order Denying

Motion for Reconsideration (September 27, 2022). (App.)

III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. As a matter of first impression, do the unambiguous provisions of the PRA sanction the requirement for the presence of armed police in legal proceedings where a litigant to the proceedings obtained undisclosed information consistent with the provisions of the PRA about the trier of fact and state counsel representing the opposing party?
- 2. Does the decision of the COA allowing the
 Department to withhold service of its decision/orders
 involve a significant question of law under the Constitution
 of the State of Washington and create a conflict of
 decisions between COA divisions?
- 3. Does the decision of the COA allowing for clandestine written and verbal communications about the representative of a litigant between judges and legal staff

conflict with a previous decision of the same division of the COA and violate the US and State of Washington Constitutions?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In addition to the misinterpretation and misapplication of the law, this case involves the racist mistreatment Ms. Aldridge, who is Caucasian, experienced before the BIIA because her husband, M. Wayne Aldridge, who legally served as her lay representative before the BIIA (WAC 263-12-020(3)(iii)), is a dark-skin Black American.

Over the seven-year history of Ms. Aldridge's IIC, Ms. Aldridge was compelled to file at least fourteen board appeals resulting from the conduct of the Department acting in solidarity with the BIIA to thwart Ms. Aldridge's legal right to unbiased proceedings before the courts. Of the fourteen appeals, all but one were decided by Caucasian IAJs. Ms. Aldridge lost all but one of her appeals. The single appeal in which she prevailed was

decided by an African-American IAJ, IAJ Anita Booker-Hay. Superlatively, IAJ Anita Booker-Hay is now *Chief Industrial Appeals Judge* Anita Booker-Hay.³

Additionally, in 2013, during hearings requiring personal appearances, the BIIA required the presence of armed police when Mr. Aldridge appeared in person.

Although the Aldridges requested the BIIA to disclose the reason for the requirement, the BIIA refused. The BIIA's refusal led the Aldridges to request hearings because of the requirement. The BIIA refused. This requirement for the presence of armed police without holding hearings on the matter continued despite its ruling in State v. Gorman-Lykken No. 51254-8-11, Court of Appeals, Division 2 446 P. 3d 694.4 Public records requests revealed that Mr.

_

³ http://www.biia.wa.gov/AboutBIIA.html.

⁴ Gorman-Lykken's conviction for rape in the second degree-domestic violence was reversed and remanded for further proceedings when the Court of Appeals held that the trial court abused its discretion by allowing a corrections officer to be stationed next to Gorman-Lykken without analyzing whether case-specific reasons supported the need for such a security measure

Aldridge was the topic of the IAJs and that all dockets listing Mr. Aldridge indicated an "H" for "Hostile" and "S" for "Security," or the word security would be indicated in bold uppercase letters on a document in the file provided to IAJs and BIIA staff but not to Mr. Aldridge or the person he represented. Despite these clandestine warnings to any IAJ assigned a case where Mr. Aldridge's name appeared, records of email exchanges between IAJ and BIIA staff revealed no reason exists for the warning. Moreover, public records revealed that in cases involving Caucasian litigants where the BIIA required the presence of armed police, the armed police were not required until the Caucasian litigant made actual threats against an IAJ. In one case, the Caucasian litigant, Dale Alan Weems, threatened to blow up a BIIA facility.⁵ Brian G. Corntassel, a Caucasian litigant appearing before the BIIA, threatened

⁵ BIIA Docket 08 12202.

to kill people at the Department and assault an IAJ.6 Despite this racial disparity, the BIIA continued to deny the Aldridge's request that hearings be conducted on the BIIA's insistence on the presence of armed police when Mr. Aldridge appeared in person. Additionally, despite the law allowing the BIIA to certify cases of contempt to the superior court, the BIIA never brought any such proceeding against Mr. Aldridge. In addition to its denials, the BIIA purposely excluded from its full BIIA's appeal terminations orders any reference to the issue of its requirement for the presence of armed police when Mr. Aldridge appears in person and its denial of the Aldridge's request to hold hearings on the matter. The BIIA's conduct effectively deprived the reviewing courts of jurisdiction to review the matter. As a result, the Aldridges petitioned the superior court for a temporary restraining

⁶ BIIA Docket 13 21298.

order; the petition was denied. Realizing that the BIIA will continue to deny Ms. Aldridge impartial reviews intentionally, Ms. Aldridge motioned the BIIA to substitute board IAJs with pro-tem judges from outside the BIIA. WAC 263-12-045(5). The motion was denied. Although the denial is a direct part of the appeal from which Ms. Aldridge sought review up to this Court, the BIIA, in violation of the law, purposely and vindictively withheld its denial from its certified record to the Superior Court.⁷

Throughout the seven-year history of Ms. Aldridge's IIC, in conjunction with the racially discriminatory conduct of the BIIA, the Aldridges also noticed concerning conduct by an IAJ assigned to hear one of the many appeals brought by Ms. Aldridge and that of an AAG. As a result of the conduct, Mr. Aldridge obtained public records information on these state employees.⁸ In its decision

⁷ RCW 51.52.110, WAC 263-12-170.

⁸ RCW 42.56 WA Public Records Act.

terminating review, the COA ruled that BIIA's reason for requiring the presence of armed police when Mr. Aldridge appears is justified because Mr. Aldridge exercised his rights under the state's PRA to request public information about the IAJ and AAG. The PRA does not state, infer, or condone the use of such retaliatory practices.9 The records revealed that the presiding IAJ received a speeding ticket from a WSP trooper two days before she changed a telephonic hearing to a hearing requiring personal appearance. The IAJ did not disclose the matter. Mr. Aldridge is a retired WSP trooper. This information is contained in files maintained by the Department on Ms. Aldridge's IIC, in the records maintained by the BIIA, in

⁹ RCW 42.56.080. See also Green v. Lewis County No. 77746-7-I, Court of Appeals, Division 1, July 16, 2018, <u>UNPUBLISHED OPINION</u>: The PRA establishes that agencies shall not distinguish among persons requesting records . . . This prohibition is to prevent agencies from denying PRA requests based on the requestor's identity or purpose.

This unpublished decision has no precedential value, is not binding on any court, and is cited in this brief only for such persuasive value as the court deems appropriate. GR 14.1.

the files maintained by the Department on Mr. Aldridge's IIC, and in the records maintained by the BIIA on Mr. Aldridge. The Aldridges did not discover the information until after the hearing. Upon discovery, Ms. Aldridge petitioned the full board for review of the ruling and the matter of the potential bias. The issue of bias was denied.

In a separate appeal from that involving the IAJ and the speeding ticket, Mr. Aldridge learned that the AAG assigned to represent the Department was using a stage name instead of her actual name. However, the day before the scheduling conference that the AAG attended, Mr. Aldridge attempted to telephone the presiding IAJ to change the conference to telephonic. When Mr. Aldridge called, the BIIA telephone system experienced issues with its public line. This prevented Mr. Aldridge from contacting anyone at the BIIA. Mr. Aldridge located a telephone number for the IAJ on the WSBA website. The address shown for the IAJ was consistent with that of the BIIA

office. The phone number was the IAJ's home telephone number. When Mr. Aldridge appeared for the conference the following day, the IAJ had summoned armed police. When Mr. Aldridge inquired about the reason, the IAJ refused to answer, saying he does not have to disclose "that to you." Mr. Aldridge moved for interlocutory review, but the motion was denied. The chief appeals judge ruled that the IAJ is not required to disclose the reason for the requirement of armed police. This evidence was provided to the COA in its review giving rise to Ms. Aldridge's pending Petition for Review. Despite this evidence and the fact that the information disproves the COA's ruling, the COA disregarded the evidence and issued its order terminating review of Ms. Aldridge's appeal. During the conference, Mr. Aldridge referred to the AAG by her actual name. The AAG did not raise an issue during the proceeding. After the proceeding, the AAG wrote a letter to the BIIA alleging that Mr. Aldridge used her actual

name as a form of intimidation. The AAG requested that the BIIA assign security to further proceedings. The letter was not sworn or signed under oath.¹⁰ The BIIA did not hold hearings on the matter.

During the seven-year history of Ms. Aldridge's IIC, in violation of the law, when the Department received billings for services provided to Ms. Aldridge by doctors and other service providers, the Department refused to serve Ms. Aldridge with its RA denying payment for such services. 11 When Ms. Aldridge learned of the RAs, she appealed the Department's refusal to serve her with notice of the denial. Until Ms. Aldridge's appeal was heard by an African-American IAJ, some six years into her IIC and many BIIA denials by Caucasian IAJs, her appeals of the Department's refusal to serve her with notice of the

¹⁰ GR 13

¹¹ RCW 51.04.080. See also, Renton Sch. Dist. #403 v. Dolph, 415 P.3d 269 (Wash. App. 2017).

denials were denied. During the appeals proceedings before the African-American IAJ, the Department admitted that it deliberately refused to serve notice on Ms. Aldridge of its RAs denying payment of benefits. This refusal, in conjunction with the BIIA's continued denial of Ms. Aldridge's appeals of the practice, in violation of the Articles of the Washington State Constitution, unnecessarily delayed Ms. Aldridge's quest for justice under the law. 12 Despite evidence in the Department's own words, the COA found that the "Department issued a few remittance advices . . . ," while overlooking the deprivation of justice through the unnecessary delay brought on by the Department's refusal to serve the RAs on Ms. Aldridge and the resulting inability of Ms. Aldridge to produce witness testimony from the treating providers who, by the time Ms. Aldridge's appeal was heard, had

¹² Const. art 1:10.

archived their files and had treated hundreds of other patients. 13 "Justice too long delayed is justice denied." Martin Luther King Jr. paraphrasing William Ewart Gladstone. 14

v. ARGUMENT

a. There exists no provision under the PRA that authorize the presence of armed police where records request pursuant to the Act are requested and provided.

The COA's ruling that the BIIA's *practice* of requiring the presence of armed police when Mr. Aldridge appears in person because Mr. Aldridge obtained "personal information" on two state employees is a matter of first impression. The practice is not supported by any rule or policy enacted by the BIIA. Rather, the *practice* is

¹³ Ms. Aldridge filed her industrial insurance claim on December 28, 2009. The appeal of the Department's repeated refusal to serve its RA denials on Ms. Aldridge was finally heard by an African-American IAJ on October 6, 2016.

¹⁴ "For years now I have heard the word "Wait!" It rings in the ear of every Negro with piercing familiarity. This "Wait" has almost always meant "Never." We must come to see, with one of our distinguished jurists, that "justice too long delayed is justice denied.""

resigned to the Aldridge and does not provide a method of appeal or review. A policy does not have the effect of law. If an agency improperly relies on a policy that was not promulgated pursuant to the rule-making requirements of the APA, the remedy is to invalidate the action. IE. Dunn Northwest, Inc. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 139 Wn. App. 35, 53, 156 P.3d 250 (2007). The COA's acceptance of the BIIA's practice of requiring the presence of armed police when Mr. Aldridge appears in person conflicts with the decision under Dunn Northwest. RAP 13.4(b)(2) authorizes review if the decision from the Court of Appeals conflicts with another decision of the Court of Appeals. See, e.g., State v. Taylor, 140 Wn.2d 229, 235, 996 P.2d 571 (2000) (granting review to resolve conflict between Division I and Division II).

Additionally, there is no evidence to support the ruling.

In her motion for reconsideration, Ms. Aldridge apprised
the court of this failing and provided proof that the court

erred in its decision. The court ordered the Department to answer Ms. Aldridge's motion. The Department did not dispute Ms. Aldridge's argument. Despite Ms. Aldridge's production of tangible evidence contradicting the court's ruling, the court let stand its March 29, 2022 ruling. *See* Mot. for Reconsideration App. B and C.

The BIIA receives thousands of industrial insurances appeals each year. http://www.biia.wa.gov/Reports.html.

There are countless numbers of PRA requests each year.

The ruling of the COA is of substantial public interest as it exposes tens of thousands of persons to the consequences of any form of punishment devised by State government for exercising the rights guaranteed under the Act. Review is also warranted because the decision involves an issue of substantial public interest pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4).

b. The COA supports the Department's intentional violation of the law where [the Department] purposefully refused to serve on Ms. Aldridge, its RA denying payment to her medical providers.

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