I. INTRODUCTION 

The Court of Appeals’ decision to affirm the superior 

court presents no reason for review. Colleen Aldridge argues 

that the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals violated the 

appearance of fairness doctrine because security was present for 

a hearing in a previous, unrelated case brought by her husband 

because he is Black. But, in this case, she offers no evidence 

that security was either requested or present at her hearing and 

thus presents no reason to review the Court of Appeals’ 

determination that she failed to meet her burden of 

demonstrating a violation of the appearance of fairness here.  

This Court should deny review. 

II. ISSUES 

1. Did the superior court abuse its discretion in deciding 
that there was no evidence of racial bias by the Board 
based on the presence of security in a prior, unrelated 
case brought by her husband, when no security was either 
requested or provided during any proceeding in 
Aldridge’s appeal?  

 
2. Are Mrs. Aldridge’s complaints about a delay in 

receiving L&I’s order properly before the Court when 
Aldridge presented no evidence of prejudice? 
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3. Did the superior court abuse its discretion when, 

consistent with RCW 51.52.115, it limited the record on 
review to the Board’s certified record for this appeal 
when Aldridge didn’t move to supplement the record? 

 
III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. L&I Rejected Coverage for a Surgery that Was Not 
Related to Aldridge’s Claim, and the Board Affirmed 

In January 2010, Aldridge filed an industrial insurance 

claim with L&I, and it allowed her claim for a cervical 

sprain/strain condition. See AR 554 (Ex 1), 559 (Ex 4). But two 

years before L&I ultimately allowed her claim, Aldridge had 

surgery on her cervical spine for a separate condition called 

degenerative disc disease. See AR 380; see AR 500. L&I 

denied payment for that surgery. Ms. Aldridge appealed the 

denial to the Board. AR 59, 64. At her hearing, Ms. Aldridge’s 

only medical witness offered no opinion on whether the surgery 

was proper and necessary treatment under RCW 51.36.010 for a 

cervical sprain condition—Aldridge’s allowed claim. AR 444.  

Dr. Dennis Stumpp, testifying for L&I, conducted a 

record review of Aldridge’s claim and concluded that the 
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degenerative disc disease and associated surgery was unrelated 

to the compensated cervical sprain. AR 500; see also AR 483. 

He explained that MRIs of Aldridge’s spine in 2004 and 2007 

showed deterioration of her C6-7 vertebrae. AR 497-98. He 

went on to explain that cervical sprains occur in ligaments and 

muscles, whereas cervical disc disease occurs in the discs 

between vertebrae. AR 496, 501. Aldridge’s surgery occurred 

on her C6-7 disc. AR 500. Dr. Stumpp also testified that 

degenerative disc disease is not work related and is 

unassociated with specific professions or movements. AR 502. 

The Board affirmed L&I’s remittance advice denying 

payment for the surgery, AR 1, 19-23, and found “Ms. Aldridge 

suffers from degenerative disk disease in her cervical spine,” 

but “distinctive conditions of [her] employment did not cause or 

aggravate this condition.” AR 22. The Board also found that 

Aldridge’s “June 10, 2010 surgery was not necessary and 

proper treatment for the allowed condition of cervical 

strain/sprain.” AR 22.  
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B. No Security Was Present at the Board Hearing 

Aldridge doesn’t dispute that substantial evidence 

supports the Board’s decision denying payment for her 

degenerative disc surgery, but continues to argue that because 

security has been provided in other cases involving her spouse, 

the Board was biased against her. Aldridge recites facts about a 

previous Court of Appeals case that led to security being called 

in one of her spouse’s cases. Pet. 14-17; Aldridge v. Dep’t of 

Lab. & Indus., No. 49725-5-II, 2018 WL 2120572, at *4 

(Wash. Ct. App. May 8, 2018) (unpublished). She argues that 

security was only present in that case because Mr. Aldridge was 

“Black and married to a Caucasian woman.” Pet. 4. 

The previous case that Aldridge refers to involved Mr. 

Aldridge’s appeals under his own workers’ compensation 

claim, and the Board judge ordered security in that appeal after 

L&I requested it and submitted briefing on the issue. Aldridge, 

2018 WL 2120572, at *3. He had engaged in intimidating 

behavior, obtaining personal information about the Board 
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judge, who expressed some concern for her safety, and the 

assistant attorney general assigned to the case. Id.  

In the present appeal (i.e., Aldridge’s appeal to L&I’s 

remittance advice about her treatment), Mr. Aldridge, who 

acted as Aldridge’s lay representative, requested, among other 

things, “a ruling on whether there will be armed security at 

[Aldridge’s] hearing.” AR 288. He made this request during the 

initial scheduling conference, and the hearings judge reserved 

ruling on the issue because no case-specific security concern 

had been identified. AR 288-89. As the hearings judge said in 

the report of proceedings: 

Ms. Aldridge’s representative requested a ruling 
on whether there will be armed security at her 
hearing. He requested that his objection to such 
security and any ruling be preserved herein, so he 
can appeal it. Ruling is reserved. Requests for 
security (state patrol presence) are discretionary. 
But such requests are denied by the Board unless a 
case-specific security concern has been identified. 
To date, no case-specific security concern has been 
identified.   
 

AR 288-89.  
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Neither L&I nor the Board made any subsequent request 

for security. AR 356-57. Mr. Aldridge raised the security issue 

again, however, during another scheduling conference in 

January 2018. AR 356-57. Both the hearings judge and counsel 

for L&I affirmed that no one had requested security: 

JUDGE HANSEN: . . . Mr. Aldridge, anything 
else you’d like to put on the record at this time? 
 
MR. ALDRIDGE: There’s the issue of armed 
security. Will armed security be present . . . 
[colloquy about hearing location] . . . either in the 
actual courtroom or hearing room or on the 
facilities[?] 
 
JUDGE HANSEN: I won’t be requesting that. Ms. 
Dinan, do you know at this time whether you will 
be requesting it? 
 
MS. DINAN: I have not requested it up to this point 
and I don’t believe I’m requesting it at this time. 
 
JUDGE HANSEN: Very good. 
 

AR 355-57.  

Mr. Aldridge asked for a hearing on the issue and for an 

opportunity to respond in writing, “[i]f anyone decides to 
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request the presence of armed security.” AR 357. The Board 

judge granted that request: 

MR. ALDRIDGE: If anyone decides to request the 
presence of armed security, I’d like an opportunity 
for a hearing, first off, with the person - other than, 
of course, the judge - requesting the presence of 
armed security. I’d like a pleading indicating that 
and an opportunity to respond to the pleading and 
if that’s going to be the case then I’m going to 
request the presence of armed security to be in the 
courtroom sitting next to counsel as well. 
 
JUDGE HANSEN: Ms. Dinan, if you at some 
point conclude that armed security, you want to 
request that, would you please do it in writing  
and-- 
 
MS. DINAN: Of course, Your Honor, I will do it 
in writing. 
 
JUDGE HANSEN: --we’ll see where it goes. 
Okay. 
 
MS. DINAN: Any motion that I bring, I will do it 
in writing. 
 
JUDGE HANSEN: Thank you. Mr. Aldridge, is 
there anything else? 
 
MS. ALDRIDGE: No, sir. 
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AR 357-58. L&I did not file any motion for security, or 

otherwise request security for any proceeding in this appeal. 

Mr. Aldridge again raised the issue of armed security at 

the May 15, 2018 hearing. He did so twice, first before he 

called Aldridge to testify: 

MR. ALDRIDGE: All right. And then, there is the 
matter of armed security. 
 
JUDGE HANSEN: I don’t think -- it hasn’t been 
requested. 
 
MR. ALDRIDGE: Okay. 
 

AR 369. He did so again after L&I objected to Aldridge’s 

proposed Exhibit 6, a document titled “Party Info 

(SECURITY) - 1620604 ALDRIDGE, COLLEEN M.,” 

and which she offered as proof that she could not get a 

fair hearing at the Board.1 AR 395-98, 561 (Ex 6). 

According to Mr. Aldridge, the security issue was before 

                                           
1 The Board rejected Exhibit 6. AR 561 (Ex 6). 
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the Board in Aldridge’s appeal despite the fact that 

security had never been requested: 

MS. DINAN: [After objecting to Exhibit 6 on ER 
402 and ER 403 grounds] I will just represent for 
the record that the whole time I have been 
involved in this matter, which seems like quite a 
while, at this point, I have not requested security. I 
am not aware of the Board requesting security, and 
the only party who raises the issue of security is 
Mr. Aldridge. So, again, it is definitely not relevant 
to the issue for which we are here today. 
 
JUDGE HANSEN: Go ahead, sir. 
 
MR. ALDRIDGE: The issue of security is up front 
and foremost a matter before the Board, and has 
everything to do with this case. Because the 
department has, maybe, Ms. Dinan hasn’t 
requested security, but I am aware that 
Mrs. Aldridge is aware that her department has 
insisted that the presence of armed security with 
the authority to kill be present when I appear. . . . 
 
. . . 
 
MS. DINAN: [After also objecting on ER 901 
grounds] And I would note for the record, there is 
no armed security here today in this room. 
 
JUDGE HANSEN: That is correct. 
 

AR 395-98. 
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 Aldridge rested her case during a July 2018 hearing. AR 

480. Another hearings judge presided over that hearing, and the 

judge asked Mr. Aldridge whether the sole issue on appeal 

involved the remittance advice for Aldridge’s surgery. AR 480-

81. Mr. Aldridge said “Yes,” but then raised the security issue 

yet again: 

MR. ALDRIDGE: . . . The [security] issue has 
been raised through pleadings and motions, and at 
this particular point, I believe, Judge Hansen had 
determined that, because he had not requested the 
presence of armed security, and Ms. Dinan had not 
requested the presence of armed security, then it 
was no longer an issue. 

AR 481-82. 

Mr. Aldridge also clarified, however, that Aldridge 

had put on “whatever evidence” she wanted to about the 

security issue: 
 

JUDGE PATRICK: Okay. And have you 
presented whatever evidence you wanted to 
present on that, I am asking, because you just said 
you rested. 
 
MR. ALDRIDGE: I have, yes. 
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AR 482. The only evidence Aldridge submitted on that issue 

was her proposed Exhibit 6, and the Board rejected that exhibit. 

AR 561 (Ex 6). 

C. The Superior Court Affirmed the Board 

Aldridge appealed the Board’s decision to affirm L&I’s 

order to superior court. CP 8. The Board certified the record on 

appeal, CP 1-4, and Aldridge sent the Board a letter asking it to 

supplement the record with documents from various other 

Board appeals. See CP 7. The Board responded that it could not 

grant her request “without an order from Thurston County 

Superior Court.” CP 7. The Board explained, “the statute and 

regulation limit the documents that the Board can certify to the 

superior court.” CP 7.2  

Aldridge never sought such an order from the superior 

court, however. RP 11. Indeed, when the superior court asked 

Aldridge if she “ever sought to add to the record by getting an 

                                           
2 See, e.g., RCW 51.52.110, .115; WAC 263-12-135,  

-170. 
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order from this court or getting the court’s permission to [add to 

the record],” she told the superior court, “No. I didn’t have to,” 

and that the Board “should have provided it.” RP 11. Aldridge 

also did not ask the superior court to add documents to the 

record, or to take any testimony under the procedural 

irregularity provision in RCW 51.52.115. RP 3-28. 

The superior court affirmed the Board, RP 24-25, finding 

“Ms. Aldridge suffers from degenerative disk disease in her 

cervical spine,” but “distinctive conditions of [her] employment 

did not cause or aggravate this condition.” CP 50 (FF 1.2.3). 

The court also found that her “June 10, 2010 surgery was not 

necessary and proper treatment for the allowed condition of 

cervical strain/sprain.” CP 50 (FF 1.2.5). The court thus 

concluded that the “remittance advice dated August 4, 2012, is 

correct, and is affirmed.” CP 51 (CL 2.2.3).  

Aldridge appealed. CP 53-54. The Court of Appeals 

affirmed in an unpublished decision. Aldridge v. Dep’t of Lab. 

& Indus., No. 55489-5-II, slip op. at 11 (Wash. Ct. App. Mar. 
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29, 2022). The Court of Appeals found no appearance of 

fairness violation because no security was requested or 

provided at Aldridge’s hearing. Id. at 7. The Court of Appeals 

found that there was no violation regarding the record at the 

superior court because she did not move to have the documents 

admitted. Id. at 9. It rejected Aldridge’s arguments challenging 

an alleged delay in L&I issuing the remittance advice because 

she did not provide evidence that any delay affected the medical 

evidence in the case. Id. It also held that substantial evidence 

supported the trial court’s decision. Aldridge, slip op. at 10-11.  

IV. ARGUMENT   

A. This Case Does Not Present an Issue of Substantial 
Public Interest Regarding Bias Related to Security 
Because No Security Was Present at Aldridge’s 
Hearing 

Aldridge’s arguments relating to a violation of the 

appearance of fairness doctrine relate entirely to a prior, 

unrelated case brought by her husband and thus do not present 

grounds for review in this case. Aldridge recites facts about a 

previous Court of Appeals case that led to security being called 
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for a case of her spouse. Pet. 14-17. She asks for review under 

RAP 13.4(b)(4), claiming a “practice of requiring the presence 

of armed policy when Mr. Aldridge appears in person.” Pet. 19, 

21. But as extensively detailed in the facts and in the Court of 

Appeals decision, her argument about security has no merit 

because there was no security requested or present at her 

hearing. And the argument about a connection with the Public 

Records Act is puzzling and immaterial given this case does not 

in any way involve a Public Records Act decision.  

B. Alleged Delay in Receiving an Order Does Not 
Warrant Review 

Aldridge’s argument about a delay in receiving L&I’s 

remittance advice similarly fails to warrant review. Pet. 23-24 

(citing RAP 13(b)(2), (3), (4)). Aldridge failed in this argument 

before the Court of Appeals because she did not present any 

evidence that she was prejudiced by the delay. Aldridge, slip op. 

at 9. She presented no testimony that she lost evidence, and has 

made no showing that her doctor’s memory was impaired. AR 

416-56. Parties must make a record on their claimed errors. See 
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State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 333, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995). 

Aldridge shows no prejudice stemming from this alleged error. 

Pierce v. Bill & Melinda Gates Found., 15 Wn. App. 2d 419, 

424, 445-46, 475 P.3d 1011 (2020) (must show prejudice or 

error is harmless).  

C. Aldridge’s Unsupported Allegations About Records 
Sent to the Superior Court Concerning 
Communications About Her Spouse Does Not 
Warrant Review  

Aldridge’s unsupported assertion about the record with 

respect to whether the Board flagged any file regarding her 

spouse as hostile similarly does not warrant review here. Pet. 

24-25. She cites nothing in the record for this proposition, but 

argues that the Board did not send all the records to the superior 

court about this issue. Pet. 25-26. These arguments fail to 

warrant review.  

First, this argument once again relates to the alleged 

reasons that security was present in a prior, unrelated case 
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involving her husband. See Pet. 24-25. Because there was no 

security in Aldridge’s case, this argument is not relevant here.  

Second, Aldridge’s arguments regarding alleged evidence 

lacking before the superior court likewise does not present a 

reason for review. In workers’ compensation appeals, “the 

[superior] court shall not receive evidence or testimony other 

than, or in addition to, that offered before the board or included 

in the record filed by the board in the superior court as provided 

in RCW 51.52.110.” RCW 51.52.115. Aldridge claims that the 

Board did not send the complete record to the superior court. 

Pet. 24-26. But she never asked the superior court for 

permission to supplement the record with these documents, as 

RCW 51.52.115 explicitly requires, and thus waived that issue. 

RP 11-12; CP 7; see Gjerde v. Fritzsche, 55 Wn. App. 387, 394, 

777 P.2d 1072 (1989) (recognizing “silence in the face of actual 
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knowledge of an inconsistency at a time it could be cured 

waives the issue for appeal”).  

V. CONCLUSION  

This Court should deny review.  

This document contains 2,725 words, excluding the parts 

of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.